I. Introduction 

In this lawsuit, the City of Woodinville seeks to acquire privately 

owned real property without compensating the property's owner. The 

City is claiming rights to the property under a Covenant recorded in 

1985. But the City has no rights under the Covenant and the trial court 

erred by ruling the City can take the property without paying for it. 

II. Assignments of Error 

Assignments of Error 

No. 1. The trial court erred by granting the City of Woodinville's 

Motion for Summary Judgment. 

No.2. The trial court erred by denying the Fowler Partnership's 

Motion for Summary Judgment. 

No.3. The trial court erred by dismissing the Fowler Partnership's 

counterclaim. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Does the City of Woodinville have any rights under the Covenant? 

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

2. Was the Covenant revoked by operation of law? (Assignments of 

Error 1 and 2.) 

3. Does the Covenant run with the land? (Assignments of Error 1 

and 2.) 
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4. Is the City a beneficiary of the Covenant? (Assignments of Error 1 

and 2.) 

5. Did the City gain or lose any rights with the passage of time? 

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

6. Does the statute of limitations apply to bar the property owner's 

rights? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

7. Does laches bar the City's claim under the Covenant? 

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

8. Did the City obtain title to the property by adverse possession? 

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2.). 

9. Was the Covenant an unconstitutional taking? (Assignments of 

Error 1 and 2.) 

10. Does the plain language of the Covenant say or mean that no 

compensation is due? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

11. Is there a taking before an interest in the property is taken? 

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2.) 

12. Is the fair market value of the property $592,500? (Assignment 

of Error 3.) 

13. Should judgment be entered for Defendant with an award of 

costs and attorney fees? (Assignment of Error 3.) 
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III. Statement of the Case 

A. The facts of the case. 

1. The parties and property at issue. 

Plaintiff is the City of Woodinville. CP 1. Woodinville was 

incorporated in 1993 following voter approval of a ballot measure for 

incorporation on the third attempt. CP 77. Prior to incorporation, the 

region within the City limits was unincorporated King County. /d. 

Defendant is a partnership that owns the real property at issue in this 

suit. CP 112. The property in issue is part of commercial property 

known as Woodinville City Center and it is located in the City of 

Woodinville; Defendant purchased the property in 1991. CP 112. 

The dispute concerns the south 50 feet of Defendant's property. CP 

115. It consists of a paved road called 173rct, with a sidewalk, curb and 

gutter on the north side of the road, and landscaping on both sides of the 

roadway, as shown in this Google Earth image: 
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CP 113, 114. 

A photo taken by the City's appraiser showing the roadway and 

property looking west on 173rd from 1351
h Ave. NE is shown here: 

CP 114. 

A mobile home park called Canterbury was located immediately 

south of Defendant's property. CP 114. A sketch of the Defendant's 

property and its proximity to Canterbury is shown here: 

r---
I -

~le;. ew,. 

I f I 
-- --- }770 -----------
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2. The Lot Line Adjustment. 

The Defendant's predecessor in title owned the property in 1985 

when they redrew the internal boundary lines pursuant to a Lot Line 

Adjustment application that was submitted and approved in 1985. CP 

48, 49. 

In connection with the Lot Line Adjustment, the property owners 

recorded a document entitled "Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 

Running with the Land." CP 50-54. The Covenant was recorded on May 

21, 1985. CP 50. Under the Covenant, the property owners granted King 

County a right to acquire a right of way for a possible future road, and 

King County retained full discretion as to when, if ever, it would ask for 

a deed to the property to build the road. CP 50. It states that the timing 

ofthe dedication "shall be determined by King County." CP 50. The 

road was never dedicated to the public. CP 42 (Hansen dep., p. 22). 

The Covenant was granted in connection with the Lot Line 

Adjustment, not in the course of any sale or conveyance of an interest in 

the real property. CP 48, 49. That fact has legal significance that is 

described below. 

The Lot Line Adjustment application as approved and revised shows 

that at first on March 22, 1985 the County approved the application 

subject to the land owner dedicating the south 50 feet for purposes of a 
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public road. CP 49. Then the Approval was revised on May 21, 1985, 

and the County deleted the requirement for an immediate dedication of 

the south 50 feet of the property. CP 49. The revised approval states, 

"reserves south 50 ft for future public road. No dedication required at 

this time." CP 49. The south 50 feet of the property remained in private 

ownership, and it was held in private ownership when the City of 

Woodinville commenced this action to acquire it. CP 116, 117. 

The records do not show there was any adverse public impact arising 

from the change to the property lines, and there was none; it simply 

revised the lot boundary lines internal to the property. CP 48, 49. 

Woodinville's Public Works Director, Tom Hansen, P.E., testified he has 

reviewed between 10 to 30 lot line adjustments in the course of his 

career. CP 45 (Hansen dep. p. 43). As to the potential for an adverse 

impact on the public interest, he said: 

Q. Are you aware of any adverse impact on the public interest as a 
result of this lot line adjustment? 
A. A lot line adjustment, you're moving lot lines. I don't see any-
that's all it does. 

Q. And by that, are you trying to tell me that it's unlikely that there 
ever would be an adverse impact on the public interest by merely 
adjusting lot lines? 
A. Usually, there is not an impact from adjusting lot lines. 

CP 46. (Hansen dep. pp. 46-47). 
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It appears that the County was anticipating there may be a need for a 

public road someday in the future, and they wanted to be able to acquire 

the right of way without opposition if the need arose. 

What is most significant about the Covenant, and it is the issue in this 

case, is it does not say that the County may take the property without 

payment of compensation. CP 50-54. 

3. The use of the south 50 feet of the property. 

The Defendant's predecessor in title built and paved a roadway in the 

south 50 feet of the property, known as NE 173rd. CP 114. Since 

purchasing the property in 1991, the Defendant has paid to maintain the 

road and landscaping on both sides of the roadway, to purchase general 

liability insurance, and all real estate taxes. CP 115. 

Prior to 2001, NE 173rd was not a through road; the roadway dead 

ended at the west end of NE 173rd. CP 115. The roadway ended at its 

western edge at a landscaped berm as shown on the Landscape Plan 

issued when the Woodinville City Center was developed. CP 525. The 

lower right hand corner of Landscape Plan is shown on the following 

page. 
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The roadway is privately owned and it was used exclusively, with the 

owner's permission, by the tenants, customers and vendors of the tenants 

occupying space in the Woodinville City Center until 2001. CP 115. 

Mter Woodinville built its new City Hall on 133rd Ave. NE in about 

2001, the City connected NE 173rd to 133rd Ave. NE. CP 115. Before the 

City connected the roadway to its street grid, the City's Public Works 

Director, Mick Monkin, asked Chuck Reidt, the defendant's property 

manager, for permission to open the dead end and connect 133rd Ave. NE 

to NE 173rd and join the new pavement to the existing paving on NE 

173rd. CP 115. The defendant granted permission to the City to connect 

NE 173rd to 133rd Ave. NE as a neighborly accommodation. CP 115. 

Neither King County nor the City of Woodinville behaved at any 

time as if they were the owners or occupiers of NE 173 rd. CP 115. In 
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2009 or 2010, the City's Public Works Director, Tom Hansen, concluded 

that a dedication deed had never been executed and NE 173rd continued 

to be private property. CP 43. He testified, "It looked like private 

property." CP 43 (Hansen dep. p. 22). 

When an issue arose, the City referred all matters concerning the 

roadway to the Defendant as the owner of the property. CP 115, 116. 

For example, the property immediately south of Defendant's property 

was occupied by the Canterbury mobile home park. CP 116. In 2009, 

the owners of the mobile home park asked the City to trim the trees and 

vegetation along the south edge of the Defendant's property, which is the 

southern edge of NE 173rd, and the City instructed them to address their 

concern to the Defendant. CP 4 7. In response, the Defendant retained a 

landscaping company to address the mobile home park owner's 

complaints. CP 116. 

In another instance in 2009, a lady named Ms. Eunice Abo claimed 

she tripped and fell on the sidewalk on NE 173rd and she filed a claim for 

personal injuries with the City. CP 116. The City denied they owned the 

property and referred the matter to the Defendant and its insurer. Mr. 

Hansen testified: 

Q. How did you first learn of the claim? 
A. The claim came down from the city clerk's office to my 
department to respond to. 
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Q. And did you personally take care of that or delegate it to 
somebody? 
A. I personally responded to that. 

Q. And what was your response? 
A. My response to the city clerk was that it appeared that the 
claim happened not on city property, on city right of way. 

Q. Your conclusion at that time was that it happened on private 
property? 
A. It happened on-- not on city property. 

Q. And you concluded it happened on the Fowler Partnership 
property, if at all? 
A. Yeah, if at all. CP 94 (Hansen dep. pp. 51-52). 

In 2009 or 2010, Mr. Hansen, on behalf of the City, asked Mr. Reidt 

whether the Fowler Partnership would dedicate a right of way, and Mr. 

Reidt replied affirmatively as long as the owner was compensated for the 

taking. CP 43. The City did nothing further about it at that time. /d. 

4. The Woodin Creek Village development. 

The mobile home park south of Defendant's property is being 

developed into several hundred units of residential housing, retail space 

and associated amenities by Woodin Creek Village Associates, LLC 

pursuant to an agreement with the City of Woodinville dated May 7, 

2013. CP 45-76, 116. The City admits, "a full street improvement for 

173rd Street is needed with development of the Woodin Creek Village 

property." CP 38. 
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5. A demand for the deed and appraisal of the fair market 

value of the property. 

In 2010, the City concluded that someday it would need a road on 

173rd. CP 44 (Hansen dep. p. 38). That day came when the City entered 

into the development agreement with Woodin Creek Village Associates, 

LLC. CP 44. In the Fall of 2013, the City of Woodinville, and not King 

County, asked the Defendant for a deed to the south 50 feet of the 

Defendant's property. CP 44 (Hansen dep. pp. 38, 39). The Defendant 

requested an appraisal of the fair market value of the taking, and the City 

retained an appraiser, and he concluded the fair market value of the south 

50 feet of Defendant's property was $592,500. CP 117. This fair market 

value is an admitted fact. CP 158. 

But then the City changed its governmental mind and declared its 

intent to take the property and pay no compensation to the property 

owner. CP 117. 

B. Procedural history. 

The City filed this suit on April 22, 2014 asserting rights under the 

1985 Covenant and claiming a right to take the Defendant's property and 

pay nothing for it. CP 1-28. Defendant answered with a counterclaim for 

compensation for the taking. CP 29-35. The trial court, the Honorable 

Regina Cahan, heard both parties' motions for summary judgment on 
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August 1, 2014, and then granted the City's Motion, denied the 

Defendant's Motion and dismissed the counterclaim. CP 526-528. 

A timely notice of appeal was filed on August 29, 2014. CP 539. 

IV. Summary of Argument 

The City's demand for the Defendant's real property is governed by 

Washington Constitution, Article I, § 16. It provides in relevant part, 

"No private property shall be taken for public or private use without just 

compensation having been first made, or paid into court for the owner." 

In summary, the City has no rights under the Covenant because it 

was revoked by operation of law when the property was conveyed to 

Defendant before a dedication was completed. In any event, a covenant 

runs with the land only if five criteria are met -even when it is entitled 

"run with the land" - and this Covenant meets none of the five 

requirements under Washington law. The plain language of the Covenant 

conferred no rights on the City. And the City waited too long to seek to 

enforce the Covenant, to the Defendant's prejudice. 

Finally, the application of Washington Constitution, Article I, § 16 

and the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution to the facts of this 

case requires the payment of compensation. As there is no dispute about 

the value of the property or that the City offered nothing, Defendant 
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should be awarded the value of the property and its attorney fees and 

costs. 

V. Argument 

A. The standard of review is de novo. 

Although the City pled a claim for declaratory relief (CP 1), the trial 

court made no findings of fact and simply entered summary judgment. 

CP 526-528. The standard of review of an order granting summary 

judgment also is de novo. Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. Co., 148 

Wn.2d 788, 64 P.3d 22 (2003). 

B. The City of Woodinville has no rights under the Covenant. 

1. The Covenant was revoked by operation of law. 

In City of Spokane v. Security Savings Society, 82 Wash. 91 143 P. 

435 (1914), the Court held that a dedication of private property to a City, 

if it is not accepted by the City, is revoked by operation of law upon a 

conveyance of the property to a third party. In City of Spokane, the 

property owner recorded a dedication of the land to the City but the City 

never accepted the tender of dedication formally or by public use. Citing 

Smith v. King County, 80 Wash. 273, 141 P. 695 (1914), the Court said, 

"A statutory dedication of streets to a public use is merely a tender of a 

servitude or easement to the public, which the public is at liberty to 

accept or reject." It may be revoked at any time before it has been 
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accepted, and "a conveyance of an unaccepted street or highway revokes 

the dedication." Supra, City of Spokane v. Security Savings Society, 82 

Wash. at 93. As the Court said: 

..... one who offers to dedicate property to the public may 
revoke the offer at any time before acceptance by the public, 
either in a formal way or by actual user, and that a 
conveyance of the property by the dedicator to a third 
party before acceptance operates as a revocation of the 
offer to dedicate .... /d. (emphasis added). 

This rule of property law should control the City's claim here where 

there was, in fact, no dedication and no evidence shows that King 

County ever actually used the property before it was conveyed to the 

Defendant. King County never took the steps necessary to seek or 

accept the dedication of the south 50 feet of the property, and the 

intervening conveyance of the property to the Defendant before the City 

came into existence revoked the offer to execute a dedication. In City of 

Spokane, the revocation as a matter of law occurred where the property 

owner had recorded a deed to the property in favor of the City. The City 

of Woodinville has even less right to demand enforcement of the 

Covenant where no dedication was made. 

2. The Covenant does not run with the land. 

A covenant "runs with the land" only ifthe following five criteria are 

met: 
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(1) the covenant must have been enforceable between the original 

parties, such enforceability being a question of contract law; 

(2) the covenant must "touch and concern" both the land to be 

benefitted and the land to be burdened; 

(3) the covenanting parties must have intended to bind their 

successors in interest; 

(4) there must be vertical privity of estate, i.e., between the original 

parties to the covenant and the present disputants; and 

(5) there must be horizontal privity of estate between the original 

parties. 

Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd., 152 Wn.App. 

229, 215 P.3d 990 (Div. 3 2009). 

a. The Covenant would not have been enforceable as a 

matter of contract. 

The issue is presented only because Woodinville claims it can take 

the property for free. King County never sought to exercise its alleged 

rights, and we don't know if the County would have asserted the same 

high handed unconstitutional taking of property without compensation 

that Woodinville asserts. If so, that assertion of rights would have been 

clearly unlawful under Unlimited v. Kitsap County, 50 Wn.App. 723, 

750 P.2d 651 (Div. 2 1988). 

- 15-



A contract is a legally enforceable promise or set of promises. WPI 

301.01. Under the first criteria, the Covenant does not run with the land 

if it was not enforceable by the original parties to it, i.e., King County 

and the property owner, as a matter of contract. If the Covenant was not 

enforceable as between those parties, then the first criterion is not met 

and the Covenant does not run with the land. 

This is not an issue concerning consideration for the Covenant or its 

adequacy. If King County had attempted to enforce the Covenant 

without paying compensation, that would have been an illegal and 

unconstitutional taking. 

The government can extract a right of way from a land owner in the 

process of reviewing and approving a development permit without 

paying compensation only if there is a "nexus" between the planned 

development and an adverse impact on the public interest that was the 

result of the development. In Sparks v. Douglas County, 127 Wn.2d 

901, 904 P.2d 738 (1995), the Court said, "As a prerequisite for 

development permission, a regulation may require a landowner to 

dedicate property rights for public use if the regulatory exaction is 

reasonably calculated to prevent, or compensate for, adverse public 

impacts of the proposed development." If the exaction is not reasonably 

calculated to prevent or compensate for the adverse impacts of the 
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proposed development, then the exaction is a "taking" requiring payment 

of compensation under the Washington Constitution. /d. 

In Sparks v. Douglas Co., the land owner sought approval to develop 

home sites on four plats totaling 31 acres of land. During the review 

process, the county concluded that the adjoining streets were deficient 

for the anticipated increase in traffic flow from the development, and one 

of the streets did not meet fire code requirements for safe access. Sparks 

v. Douglas Co., /d. 127 Wn.2d at 904. In order to mitigate these adverse 

impacts of the development, the Subdivision Review Committee 

imposed conditions including the dedication of rights of way for new 

roads. /d. at 905. In affirming the Review Committee's conditions, the 

Court began its discussion with the following passage that should control 

the issue presented here. 

The federal and Washington state constitutions provide that 
private property may not be taken for public use without just 
compensation. Where the government physically appropriates a 
portion of a person's private property, such as through an 
easement or right-of-way, a taking has occurred which requires 
compensation. This rule does not necessarily apply, however, 
where conveyance of a property right is required as a condition 
for issuance of a land permit. 

"As a prerequisite for development permission, a regulation 
may require a landowner to dedicate property rights for public use 
if the regulatory exaction is reasonably calculated to prevent, or 
compensate for, adverse public impacts of the proposed 
development." /d. at 907, internal citations omitted. 
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The Court held no compensation was due because, "the proposed 

developments would likely generate increased traffic on adjacent roads 

that are inadequate for safe access." /d. at 917. In other words, the 

development would have adversely impacted the public interest and the 

exaction without compensation was lawful. 

In this case, there was no adverse public impact from the lot line 

adjustment, nor could there be, it simply revised the lot lines internal to 

the parcels, converting three smaller parcels into one large parcel. The 

City was unaware of any evidence, for example, that King County 

conducted any traffic impact analysis. CP 46 (Hansen dep. p. 46). 

In its approval of the lot line adjustment, King County cited no 

adverse public impact from the lot line adjustment, and the City of 

Woodinville's designated spokesperson said that in his experience 

reviewing as many as 30 applications for lot line adjustment, one would 

not expect there to be an adverse impact on any public interest. He 

testified, "Usually, there is not an impact from adjusting lot lines." CP 46

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