### No. 72417-7

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CITY OF WOODINVILLE,

Respondent,

v.

### THE FOWLER PARTNERSHIP,

Appellant.

### RESPONSE BRIEF

Greg A. Rubstello, WSBA #6271 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, P.L.L.C. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, Washington 98164-2008 Tel: 206.447.7000/Fax: 206.447.0215

{GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

#

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

### D. ARGUMENT

1. The Covenant was not revoked by operation of law upon conveyance of the Woodinville City Center Property to Fowler.

City of Spokane v Security Savings Society, 82 Wash. 91, 143 P.435 (1914) citing Smith v. King County, 80 Wash. 273, 141 P. 695 (1914) does not support FOWLER'S argument that the Covenant was revoked by operation of law. Both cases are distinguishable on their facts. In both cases prior to the conveyance of the property by the dedicator to a third party, a dedication deed had been offered but not accepted by the local government entity. Here, the recorded Covenant was the consideration for the revised LLA approval by King County. The Covenant is explicitly referenced on the face of the revised LLA approval.

The Covenant was accepted by King County with the approval of the revised LLA. The revised LLA substituted the Covenant for the prior requirement of immediate dedication of the south 50 feet of the Woodinville City Center Property as a condition of approval of the LLA.

The Covenant and the promise made therein to dedicate the south 50 feet for a public road remained unenforceable following conveyance of the Woodinville City Center property by WOOD ASSOCIATES to FOWLER. As specifically set forth in the Covenant, the promise to dedicate upon request was binding upon all successors to the property interest of WOOD ASSOCIATES.

# 2. <u>Woodinville has the right to enforce the Covenant as the representative of the public.</u>

FOWLER'S argument beginning at the bottom of p. 14 of the Opening Brief is that the Covenant does not run from King County to Woodinville because the elements necessary to establish a running covenant set forth in *Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd.*, 152 Wn.App. 229, 215 P.3d 990 (2009), citing *Leighton v. Leonard*, 22 Wn.App. 136, 139, 589 P.2d 279 (1978), cannot be met. What FOWLER fails to recognize is that the beneficiary of the Covenant is the public. KING COUNTY and WOODINVILLE are governmental entities representing the public interest. The public is entitled to enforcement of {GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

the covenant regardless of their governmental representative acting on the public's behalf. The principle that land dedicated for a public purpose is dedicated to the public and not to a particular entity, was early recognized by the Washington Supreme Court in Meeker v. City of Puyallup, 5 Wash. 759 (1893). The facts in Meeker were that a dedication of land was made for a public park to the Town of Puyallup. The incorporation of the Town of Puyallup was discovered to be invalid. The City of Puyallup was then incorporated and after taking control of the park property the City was sued by the grantors of the dedication to cancel their deed and enjoin the City from using the land. The court however held that the deed was a dedication to the public and that the public was now represented by the City, and as the representative of the public the City could enforce the dedication. The court recognized that such rule exists for not only streets and highways but for other public uses, such as parks, as well. Meeker v. Puyallup, at 761.

WOODINVILLE by enforcing the Covenant's promise of a dedication deed, like KING COUNTY in accepting the Covenant and revising the Lot Line Adjustment, is acting as a representative of the public. FOWLER'S argument that the Covenant does not run with the land

from the KING COUNTY to WOODINVILLE is misplaced.<sup>6</sup> There is no succession in title of land from the KING COUNTY to WOODINVILLE by conveyance as there is in the succession of title from WOOD ASSOCIATES to FOWLER, only a change in the representative of the public. The *privity*<sup>7</sup> or connection between KING COUNTY and WOODINVILLE is that both entities are representatives of the public.

WOODINVILLE as the successor governmental entity to KING COUNTY with land use jurisdiction over the Property has the right to enforce the covenant for dedication of public right of way made on behalf of the public. The fact that the covenant names KING COUNTY and not the later incorporated WOODINVILLE as the public representative is of no consequence. WOODINVILLE is the successor in interest to KING COUNTY to the covenant. FOWLER is the successor in interest to WOOD ASSOCIATES and as expressly intended by WOOD ASSOCIATES, bound to the servitudes set out in the Covenant. See

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Fowler does not dispute that the Covenant runs with the land from Wood Associates to Fowler.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Privity is defined in Black's Law Dictionary, Eighth Edition, at p. 1237 as "1. The connection or relationship between two parties, each having a legally recognized interest in the same subject matter (such as a transaction, proceeding, or piece of property..." {GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

Washington Real Property Deskbook (2009), §3.8 at pp. 3-15<sup>8</sup> where it is stated:

A specific grantee need not be named to effect a valid dedication. *Meeker v. City of Puyallup*, 5 Wash. 759, 32 P. 727 (1893). A deed to the general public, which is not a legal entity, may operate as dedication of the property to public use. *Loose v. Locke*, 25 Wn.2d 599, 604, 171 P.2d 849 (1946).

If a specific grantee is named but does not exist, the court will determine whether the grant was intended to be private or public in nature. For example, a grant to the "Town of Puyallup," which was invalidly organized at the time of the grant, was a valid dedication. The deed served as evidence of the intent of the owner to make a dedication to the public, and the actions of the city of Puyallup, once organized, served as evidence of acceptance by the representative of the public, *Meeker*, 5 Wash. 759.

The promise of a dedication deed for public road purposes is enforceable by WOODINVILLE.

3. <u>FOWLER lacks standing to make a collateral attack on the Covenant as an unconstitutional taking of property.</u>

The Covenant when recorded immediately reduced the fair market value of City Center Property due to restrictive covenant. he subsequent purchaser rule prevents FOWLER from making a claim that that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> A complete copy of Ch. 3 of the Washington Real Property Deskbook is attached to this Response as Attachment B. {GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

Covenant is an unconstitutional taking without nexus to adverse impacts from the development of the Woodinville City Center Property. *Wolfe v. Wash. State Dept. of Transportation*, 173 Wash.App. 302, 293 P.3rd 1244 (2013); and *Hoover v. Pierce County*, 79 Wash.App. 427 (1995), Review denied at 129 Wn.2d 1007 (1996).

The exception allowing a damages claim for loss in property value after acquisition is not applicable based upon uncontested facts. The January 31, 2014, revised Appraisal from the Appraisal Group of the Northwest, LLP ("revised Appraisal"), attached to the Declaration of Michael J. Bond (CP 118-255 and Declaration of Hansen CP 368-510), unequivocally states that if the covenant is enforceable the 50 - foot wide strip has no value. The fair market value of the City Center property is no less after enforcement because the Covenant deprived the owner of control of the property at the time it was recorded. The appraisal states:

The owner has no control over the land awaiting dedication, which therefore has no value. (Revised Appraisal at p. 18, second paragraph).

We are assuming the City of Woodinville's position that he owner must dedicate, without compensation, the land with the developed road on the southern border of his property is correct. (Revised Appraisal at p. 19, second paragraph of the "Extraordinary Assumptions").

A taking, if in fact there was one, occurred <u>before</u> FOWLER acquired title. The Covenant was of record when Fowler acquired title. Enforcement of the Covenant for a dedication deed does not give rise to any measurable or provable decline in the market value of the property.

The subsequent purchase rule prohibits FOWLER from maintaining any claim for damages based upon a taking arising from the Covenant.

4. <u>FOWLER'S collateral attack on the enforceability of the Covenant due to an "inadequate nexus" is barred by time.</u>

There are no facts before the Court to suggest that the Covenant was not freely offered and recorded by WOOD ASSOCIATES as consideration for a revised Lot Line Adjustment. It is a reasonable inference to make from the words of the Covenant itself and the other uncontested facts, that it was the intent of WOOD ASSOCIATES to dedicate the property for a needed street. The construction of the street by WOOD ASSOCIATES with development of the Woodinville City Center property further demonstrates the immediate need for street improvements on the Strip, arising from the development and the nexus between the Covenant and the development of the Woodinville City Center property.

KING COUNTY accepted the Covenant on behalf of the public when it deleted the condition from the approved lot line adjustment making dedication a condition of approval, substituting a reference to the recorded Covenant in the revised approval.

There is no evidence in the record indicating that WOOD ASSOCIATES sought timely administrative or judicial review to invalidate the Covenant on the basis that there was inadequate "nexus" between the lot line adjustment and an adverse impact on the public interest that was the result of the lot line adjustment. *Unlimited v. Kitsap County*, 50 Wn.App. 723, 750 P.2d 651 (1988), and *Sparks v. Douglas County*, 127 Wn.2d 901, 904 P.2d 738 (1995) cited by FOWLER both arose from timely filed applications for writ of review (pre-LUPA cases). The time period for filing a writ of review is limited to 30 days from the date of the final local decision and exhaustion of administrative remedies. *Brutsche v. Kent*, 78 Wn. App. 370, 380 898 P.2d 319 (1995). Here no writ was timely sought by the property owner.

Thus, even if FOWLER had standing to make the claim, FOWLER is time barred from collaterally challenging the covenant and condition of

Lot Line Adjustment approval made on May 21, 1985. If the act of the county employee signing the LLA could have been administratively appealed, the property owner failed to exhaust administrative remedies. If there was no administrative appeal the act was a final administrative decision. Fowler's argument at p. 29 of the Opening Brief claiming that any appeal or protest was not ripe for review "because King County retained complete discretion as to when, if ever, it could demand the deed and under what terms" is taken out of context to the record facts. The valid and enforceable promise in the Covenant for the property owner to provide a dedication deed does not as explained below in §7, does not give rise to a constitutional takings claim. FOWLER'S argument at p. 28 of the Opening Brief that "no statute of limitations bars a constitutional taking" is also made out of context to the record facts, because no constitutional taking arises out of enforcement of a valid covenant.

### Laches does not bar the enforcement of the Covenant.

Laches is not available to FOWLER as shield to enforcement of the Covenant by Woodinville. Laches requires an intervening change of conditions making it inequitable to enforce the covenant. Arnold v. Melani, 75 Wn.2d 143, 148, 437 P.2d 908 (1968). More than just the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Also see Chelan County v Nykreim, 146 Wash.2d 904, 52 P.3d 1 (2002), a post LUPA case.
{GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

passage of time must be demonstrated for laches to be applied. *Arnold v. Melani*, at 148. Nothing has happened here since the recording of the Covenant and the making of the public road improvements by WOOD ASSOCIATES to require the doctrine of laches to be applied to deny WOODINVILLE the right to enforce the covenant for the public benefit.

In addition, WOODINVILLE did not know of the Covenant until late 2013. When WOODINVILLE became aware of the Covenant it did not delay in exercising its rights under the covenant. In order for the doctrine of laches to be applied, a party must know of its rights and then sit on them when the rights should equitably have been exercised. *Amende v. Pierce Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 391, 398, 423 P.2d 634 (1967), citing *Morris v. Hillman Inv. Co.*, 99 Wash. 276, 169 Pac. 837 (1918).

Feider v. Feider, 40 Wash.App. 589, 699 P.2d 801 (1985) cited by FOWLER is wholly distinguishable on it facts. The case involved an unrecorded right of first refusal that a family member sought to enforce against another after 29 years even though aware of the right of first refusal for years and failing to enforce it at prior opportunities. Feider v Feider does not support the application of laches to the facts before the Court in the instant case.

{GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

Application of the doctrine of laches is also in opposite to the words of the Covenant which FOWLER in its briefing acknowledges gave KING COUNTY...discretion as to when, if ever, it would ask for dedication. The Covenant states that the timing of the dedication "shall be determined by King County. CP 50." Opening Brief, at 29.

6. The absence of any language in the Covenant indicating, suggesting or even implying a payment of any kind or nature, as a condition of delivery of the promised dedication deed demonstrates the intent of Wood Associates and King County, that delivery of the dedication deed was to be without compensation.

FOWLER mistakenly argues that the absence of the words "for free" or "without compensation" demonstrates there was no intent on part of Woods Associates, the drafter, signor and recorder of the Covenant, to dedicate the street without compensation. FOWLER wants the Court to rewrite the covenant with language requiring compensation be paid when none exists. This result is contrary to well established case law. In Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Cmtys. Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 141, 250-251, \_\_P.3d\_\_ (April, 2014), the Court stated that:

"While interpretation of a covenant is a question of law, the drafter's intent is a question of fact." (citations omitted) ...In determining the drafter's intent, we give covenant language "its ordinary and common use: and will not construe a term in such a way "so as to defeat its plain and

{GAR1262667.DOCX;1/00046.050057/}

obvious meaning." (citations omitted) ... "Extrinsic evidence is ...used to illuminate what was written, not what was intended to be written." (citations omitted) ... We, however, do not consider extrinsic "[e]vidence that would vary, contradict or modify the written word" or show an intention independent of the instrument." (citation omitted)

None of the promises in the Covenant (CP 15) speak to any compensation to be paid for construction of a public road along the southern boundary, or for the dedication or deeding of the south 50 feet of the City Center Property by the property owner for a public road. FOWLER misinterprets the language of the Covenant. The references to the formation of a County Road Improvement District (CRIB) pursuant to RCW 36.88 are for the stated purpose of obtaining the property owner's waiver of objection to the formation of a CRIB for a road improvement project, should the county choose to form such a district. There is no language calling out RCW 36.88.310 or suggesting that the south 50 feet required to be dedicated would need to be acquired by gift, purchase or by condemnation by the county acting through its board of county commissioners, as implied by FOWLER at p. 25 of the Opening Brief. The Strip was specifically required to be dedicated under paragraph 3 of the Covenant.

The ordinary meaning of the words used in the Covenant indicate that if KING COUNTY, and now WOODINVILLE, asked for a deed, then when that happened a dedication deed would be delivered and recorded without compensation being paid to the owner of the Woodinville City Center.

7. There is no constitutional or compensatory taking of property by enforcement of a valid covenant promising a dedication deed.

A party claiming that private land has been taken by the government in violation of the takings clause has the burden of demonstrating conduct that would constitute a taking. *Burton v. Clark County*, 91 Wn.App. 505, 958 P.2d 343 (1998), review denied at 137 Wn.2d 1015 (1999). This means there must be either: (1) a physical act such as invading and occupying land; (2) a legislative act such as enacting a statute, ordinance; or (3) a regulation by a local governmental entity, or a quasi-judicial act such as denying or conditioning a development permit by a local governmental entity. *Burton v Clark County*, at 515-516. WOODINVILLE has demanded that FOWLER fulfill the promise of the Covenant recorded by the property owner in conjunction with an administrative land use permitting act by KING COUNTY employees in 1985. No administrative appeal was taken. No timely judicial review was

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